
Chief Executive’s Directorate
Legal and Democratic Services  The Lonsdale Building  The Courts  Carlisle

Cumbria  CA3 8NA
Tel 01228 606060  Email democratic.services@cumbria.gov.uk

4 November 2015

To:  The Chair and Members of the Cumbria 
Health Scrutiny Variation Sub-Committee

Agenda
CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY VARIATION SUB-COMMITTEE

A meeting of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Variation Sub-Committee will be held as follows: 

Date: Thursday 12 November 2015
Time: 1.30 pm
Place: Committee Room 4 - County Offices, Kendal, LA9 4RQ (or 

on the rising of the County Council meeting - whichever is 
the later)

Dawn Roberts
Assistant Director – Corporate Governance 

Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Lynn Harker
Direct Line: 01228 226364
Email: lynn.harker@cumbria.gov.uk

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats

Serving the People of Cumbria



MEMBERSHIP

Mr M Hawkins - Cumbria County Council (Copeland)
Ms C McCarron-Holmes - Allerdale Borough Council
Mrs M Robinson - Eden District Council
Mrs D Seward - Barrow Borough Council
Ms J Williams - Carlisle City Council
Mr M Wilson - Cumbria County Council (South Lakeland)

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Agenda and Reports

Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting.

The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website – 
www.cumbria.gov.uk/councilmeetings/ 

Background Papers

Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday.

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/councilmeetings/


A G E N D A

PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC

1  ELECTION OF CHAIR

In accordance with the Sub-Committee’s Terms of Reference to appoint a Chair who 
shall be a County Councillor representative for the ensuing year.  The Chair shall be 
appointed by the County Council representatives serving on the Committee.

2  ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR

In accordance with the Sub-Committee’s Terms of Reference to appoint a Vice-Chair 
who shall be a District Councillor representative for the ensuing year.  The Vice-Chair 
shall be appointed by the District Council representatives serving on the Committee.

3  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises

1. Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2. Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3. Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority.

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b) Which has not been fully discharged. 

4. Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.

5. Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.

6. Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge).

(a) The landlord is the authority; and



(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest.

7. Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area 
of the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).

4  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda.

5  TERMS OF REFERENCE

To note the draft Terms of Reference for the Sub-Committee (copy enclosed).

6  DENTAL PRACTICE, ASPATRIA

To consider a report from the Chief Executive (copy enclosed).



Terms of Reference: Cumbria Health Scrutiny Variation 
Sub-Committee

Functions

To discharge the functions of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee in relation to 
Stage One of the Substantial Variation protocol:

 Reviewing documentation provided by the NHS Organisation on service 
variations and developments submitted to the Cumbria Health Scrutiny 
Committee;

 Determining whether the service variation or development constitutes a 
substantial variation or development taking into account all relevant guidance 
and representations by the NHS Organisation. 

Membership

The Sub-Committee shall be made up of a representative drawn from each of the 
following areas, which may be a District or County Council Member for that area:

 Allerdale
 Copeland
 Eden
 Carlisle
 South Lakeland
 Barrow

Chair and Vice Chair

The Chair shall be drawn from the County Council members and shall be elected 
annually only by those members appointed by the County Council. 

The Vice-Chair shall be drawn from the District Council members and shall be 
elected annually only by those members appointed by the district councils.

Voting

Each of the representatives on the Committee shall have equal voting rights. 

Quorum

A quorum shall comprise 3 members of the Sub-Committee, of whom at least one 
was appointed to the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee by Cumbria County 
Council and one by a District Council.

Substitutes

Substitution shall be permitted from the existing pool of Cumbria Health Scrutiny 
Committee Substitutes

Frequency of meetings

The Sub-Committee shall meet in public to consider variations and shall be timed to 
ensure their recommendations can go to the quarterly Health Scrutiny meetings.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY - VARIATION SUB 
COMMITTEE

Meeting date: 12 November 2015

From: Chief Executive

PROPOSED RELOCATION OF ASPATRIA DENTAL PRACTICE

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 This report contains a submission from NHS England with a proposal to 
relocate the services at Steele and McBride Dental Practice, Aspatria, to Steele 
and McBride Dental Practice, Maryport, and to merge the two contracts. 

2.0 ISSUES FOR SCRUTINY

2.1 The Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider whether the 
proposal constitutes a substantial service change;

3.0 BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT 

3.1 To support the Committee in considering the proposed changes, Appendix 1 is 
a report from NHS England setting out the details of, and rational for the 
relocation.  In addition, Appendix 2 includes the Substantial Variation Protocol 
as agreed by the Health Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on the 15th October.

3.3 At the meeting the sub-committee will have the opportunity to seek clarification 
on any issue from NHS England and following that will be asked to make 
decisions on whether it considers the change to be a substantial variation. 

3.4 If the committee decides that the proposed changes are not a substantial 
variation to the service then the changes can proceed without any further 
decisions by the full committee or any reference to the committee in the future.

3.5 If, however, the sub-committee decides that the proposed changes are a 
substantial variation then the proposal will be referred to the full committee to 
decide what it would consider to be proportionate consultation.

3.6 In addition, if the sub-committee decides that the proposed changes are a 
substantial variation, then the committee will once again consider the proposals 
at a future meeting in light of the outcome of the consultation.  

Diane Wood
Chief Executive

4 November 2015

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Appendices

Appendix A Substantial Variation Protocol
Appendix B Report from NHS England
Appendix C Steele & McBride Dental Practice Engagement Document
Appendix D Correspondence from Bill Finley, Allerdale Councillor, Aspatria Ward 

Contact: 

David Stephens
Policy and Scrutiny Project Officer
Cumbria County Council
David.stephens@cumbria.gov.uk

Page 8

mailto:David.stephens@cumbria.gov.uk


Appendix A
Substantial Variation Protocol

Introduction

This protocol has been developed to facilitate a common approach between NHS 
Organisations and the Health Scrutiny Committee of Cumbria County Council as to 
what constitutes a ‘substantial variation or development’ of health services. 

It is intended to promote early discussions on potential substantial variations as they 
are initially considered, prior to any formal consultation, so as to facilitate a more 
collaborative and joined up approach to substantial variations. The protocol is about 
working together, within the legal framework, to improve the experience of patients. 
Whilst concentrating on substantial variations or developments of health services, a 
recurrent theme is the need for the NHS Organisations and the Health Scrutiny 
Committee of Cumbria and opportunities to improve their care.

It is not intended that this protocol shall prejudice, conflict with or affect the exercise 
of the statutory functions, powers, rights, duties, responsibilities or obligations arising 
or imposed under any legislative provision enactment, bye-law or regulation 
whatsoever, nor shall it fetter the exercise of any discretion the Council or any NHS 
Organisation may have.

Legislative & Constitutional Context

Section 244 of the National Health Service Act 2006 authorises the Secretary of 
State to make regulations in relation to health scrutiny. 

Regulation 23 of the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards 
and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 (The Regulations) place an obligation on 
NHS Organisations to consult with the Council where they are considering any 
proposal for substantial developments or substantial variations to health services 
other than where a decision must be made as a result of the risk to safety or welfare 
of patients or staff. 

The Council may issue a report to the Secretary of State where:

a. the Council is not satisfied that consultation on any proposal has been 
adequate in relation to content or time allowed;

b. the Council is not satisfied that the reasons given by the NHS 
Organisation not to consult are adequate; or

c. the Council considers that the proposal would not be in the interests of 
the health service in its area.

Other than in relation to the University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation 
Trust the Council has delegated its role in relation to the above regulations to 
Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee (CHSC). This Protocol shall not apply in relation 
to the University Hospitals of Morecambe Bay NHS Foundation Trust whose 
substantial variations shall be addressed in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

Page 9



Stage 1 - Substantial Variation Determination Procedure

There is no definition within the Regulations of what constitutes a substantial 
variation or development and as a result proposals for service change should be 
discussed with the CHSC at an early stage to attempt to reach a common position 
between the NHS Organisation and CHSC where possible. 

Without limiting the previous paragraph the parties will, where appropriate, use the 
following procedure:

1. When an NHS Organisation develops or is made aware of a proposed 
variation which may be substantial it shall advise the CHSC as soon as 
possible. 

2. The NHS Organisation shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, provide 
the CHSC with such information as is reasonably necessary to allow it to 
form a view on whether a change is substantial.

3. Both parties shall then attempt to form a common position on whether 
the variation is substantial. In deciding whether a change is a substantial 
variation the NHS Organisation and the CHSC will consider:

 Whether there is a major change to services experienced by 
patients and future patients; 

 the impact of the change upon patients, carers, the community, 
other services and the public who use a service, or may use it in 
the future;

 whether the majority of patients using the service would experience 
a significant material change in how they receive that service, 
particularly in terms of access or location

4. Where, following the parties assessment, the NHS Organisation notifies 
the CHSC that it considers that the variation not to be substantial, but 
the Council considers the variation is substantial the parties shall follow 
the resolution procedure below with a view to resolving the 
disagreement. 

Relevant Factors 

The NHS Organisations and CHSC have agreed that the following factors may be 
relevant in determining the nature of a variation:

Characteristics likely to diminish defining 
proposals as substantial

Characteristics likely to increase defining 
proposals as substantial 

Where questions are about quality
 Area of proven practice with robust 

clinical governance and risk assessment 
arrangements

 Proposal not tried and tested 
 Conflict or disagreement Ethical issues 
 Where issues of quality, or choice vs. 

access need to be balanced
Groups affected and nature of impact
 Patients do not consider proposals 

significant 
 Proposals will have positive impact on 

patients and carers 

 Patients consider proposals significant 
 Proposals will have varying impact on 

different constituencies 

Page 10



 Proposals to increase 
capacity/access/address any adverse 
travel implications

 Proposal is for a short or temporary 
duration

 Small number of patients / or low 
proportion of a particular group affected

 Proposals increase inequalities in access 
to services

 Proposal is for a permanent change to 
the service

 Large number of patients affected, or 
all/most of a particular group of patients 
affected. 

Wider implications:
 Adverse impact on patients groups 
 Lack of cohesion with other NHS or 
 community strategies 
 Widening of inequalities 
 Cumulative effect 
 Effect on wider community 

Climate of opinion
 Clinical support for proposal
 Support from community and patients 

through robust community and 
stakeholder engagement at all stages 

 Proposals specifically address concerns 
e.g. transport provision and home 
support for day surgery 

 Proposal based on need for change and 
agreement on way forward 

 Lack of clinical consensus 
 High level of opposition, especially from 

patients and public, concerns not 
addressed, inadequate community 
engagement 

 Rationale for proposal not clear 

Stage 2 -Substantial Variation Implementation Procedure 

Where the parties agree that a proposed variation is substantial the NHS 
Organisation shall produce a draft variation plan which it shall submit to the CHSC 
for consideration. The CHSC will provide comments to the NHS Organisation which 
will then consider the comments and go out to consultation formally with the relevant 
stakeholders in accordance with the relevant legislation.

The timetable for consideration of the drafts shall, unless otherwise agreed, be:

Action Timing
Submission of draft variation plan to 
the Council

As soon as possible following determination that the 
change is substantial, but in any event within [2] 
weeks.

Consideration and initial comments 
by the Council

Comments & recommendations to be provided within 
[4] weeks of submission of plans.

NHS Organisation to review 
comments and recommendations 
and provide feedback on changes

Feedback to the Council on comments and 
recommendations within [2] weeks of receipt of 
comments. 

In certain instances the NHS Organisation may request the proposed variation be 
implemented on a temporary basis whilst consultation is undertaken, if this is agreed 
by the Committee this should be for a maximum of 6 months with any proposal to 
make the variation permanent to come back to the Committee before the end of that 
period.

Page 11



Where the NHS Organisation chooses not to implement a recommendation or 
comment on the adequacy of the proposed consultation by the CHSC the parties 
shall follow the resolution procedure set out below.  

Stage 3 – Consultation on the Substantial Variation

The NHS Organisation will carry out its public consultation providing details to the 
CHSC to allow for appropriate engagement by the Committee. Once the consultation 
has been completed the NHS Organisation will report the results of the consultation 
back to the CHSC with its response and proposed next steps.

Ifat this stage the CHSC feel that the proposal would not be in the interests of the 
health service in its area the parties shall follow the resolution procedure set out 
below.  

Resolution Procedure 

This section sets out the process which the NHS Organisation and CHSC will go 
through in order to resolve disagreements over whether a change is substantial and 
over changes recommended and comments made by the CHSC on draft variation 
plans. 

Should the NHS Organisation and the CHSC fail to reach agreement on any of the 
matters discussed above either party may:

1. Send to the other a [form/letter] setting out the area of disagreement and 
that party’s position in relation to it. The [form/letter] shall propose not 
less than three dates for a meeting to discuss the dispute with the other 
party.

2. The Chair of the CHSC and the relevant senior officer of the NHS 
Organisation shall meet within 28 days of the receipt of the [form/letter] 
to discuss the disagreement in further detail. 

3. Should an agreed position not be reached within 7 days of the meeting 
referred to at paragraph 2, above, the parties may make proposals for 
further negotiations or, if no proposals are received or accepted, this 
protocol will be considered exhausted and the NHS Organisation may 
take a decision on how to proceed. The CHSC will then make a decision 
on whether or not to refer the matter to the Secretary of State.

The parties shall agree minutes of dispute meetings which may be disclosed to the 
Secretary of State, other competent bodies or in accordance with any other 
obligation to disclose by either party. 

Page 12



NHS Organisation advises CHSC of 
potential variation which may be 

substantial

Both parties attempt to form a common 
position on whether the variation is 

substantial.

Where the NHS Organisation chooses 
not to implement a recommendation or 

comment of the CHSC may decide to 
refer to the SOS (following resolution 

procedure)

Agree

Disagree

If, parties cannot reach consensus and 
NHS Organisation decides to go ahead 

without consultation the CHSC may 
decide to refer to the SOS (following 

resolution procedure)

NHS Organisation submit a draft 
variation plan to the CHSC for 
consideration CHSC to provide 

comments and recommended changes 
to the draft variation plan. 

NHS Organisation can accept or reject 
the comments from CHSC

Accept

Reject

NHS Organisation undertakes 
Consultation reporting the results back 
to the CHSC with their response to the 

consultation 

If following the consultation the CHSC 
considers that the proposed change still 

would not be in the interests of the 
health service in its area it may decide 

to refer to the SOS (following resolution 
procedure)

Stage 1
Stage 2

Stage 3

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 6 
 

 
Cumbria Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Steele and McBride Dental Practice Proposal (Allerdale) 
Practice Relocation & Merger Proposal  

 

Author:  
Leanne Fawcett  

Date of report:   
 27 October 2015 

Nominated lead 
Christine Keen 

Summary 

 
Introduction 
 

 Mr Steele and Mr McBride have submitted a proposal to relocate the services at Steele 
and McBride Dental Practice, 5 King Street, Aspatria, Wigton, Cumbria, CA7 3ES to Steele 
and McBride Dental Practice, 9 Curzon Street, Maryport, Cumbria, CA15 6LL and to merge 
the two contracts. 
 

 This proposal has been considered by NHS England’s Primary Care Operational Group 
where the view was that this was not a substantial variation, however a final decision was 
deferred pending consultation with the Cumbria Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC). 

 
Background 
 

 The Maryport practice is 6 miles from Aspatria and is on the main bus route with regular 
trains running between the two towns. 
 

 Mr Steele and Mr McBride opened the Aspatria practice in 1995 with the aim of creating a 
full-time practice with a full time associate.  Unfortunately, due to problems with sourcing 
and retaining associates in West Cumbria, this Practice has been run on a part-time basis 
of 15 hours per week since the advent of the General Dental Services Contract in 2006. 

 

 Mr Steele and Mr McBride are both thinking about retirement planning and have requested 
the relocation and merger to ensure a more sustainable and attractive contract for any 
future incoming provider. 

 

 In addition they have advised the following: 
  

- There are 1,500 patients on the Aspatria list, however a number of these are non-
attenders (emergency only) and that many of them live west of Aspatria, i.e. they live 
nearer to Maryport than Aspatria.  

- There is only one surgery at Aspatria with no room for expansion/improvement. 
- They already provide continuing of care at their Aspatria patients by seeing them at 

Maryport for routine and emergency treatment, as appropriate, due to the longer 
opening hours.   Therefore, the proposed merger of the two practices would formalise 
this arrangement with the added benefit of increased clinical availability due to being 
open, at one site, on a full time basis.  

 

 The proposed opening hours of the Maryport site would be 9am until 5.30 pm on a 
Monday and 9am until 5 pm, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, Friday.  The merger would 
increase the clinical availability from a current combined total of 39 hours per week to 69 
hours per week. 

Page 15



Page 2 of 6 
 

 

 The provider has confirmed that, should this merger request be approved, the practice 
opening hours will be reviewed to potentially include further extended opening hours due 
to the fact that there will be no wasted travel time between the two practices. 

 

 If approved, the patients attending the Maryport Practice would benefit from:- 
 

- continuity of care provision 
- 3 surgeries with 2 dentists and access to a therapist/hygienist 
- Extended opening hours 
- Improved facilities and equipment 
- Immediate treatment for patients with a dental emergency 
- Increased clinical availability from a combined total of 39 hours per week to 69 hours 

per week being provided from a single site.   
 

 The practices are located in the West of Cumbria where practices in the nearby district of 
Copeland have advised of difficulties in recruiting and retaining dentists. 

 

Consultation undertaken by the Provider 

 

 The Provider has submitted an engagement report summarising the consultation they 
have undertaken, a copy of which has already been shared with the OSC. 
 

 The consultation has included displaying an information poster in the waiting room from 
11 May 2015 until 19 June 2015; inviting comments from patients attending the practice 
via a questionnaire asking patients what they thought about the proposal to relocate to 
Maryport and comments box, placing articles in the local press, and sending letter out to 
the key people in the area:- 

 
L Radcliffe – Mayor of Maryport and Aspatria Patient 
D Trotter – Retired Dental Advisor for Cumbria 
T Garforth – Solicitor from Gilcrux and Aspatria Patient 
P Garforth – Policeman from Gilcrux and Aspatria Patient  
D Wilson – Allerdale Councillor and Aspatria Patient  
S Moffat – Past Deputy Mayor Allerdale Borough Council 
D Forsyth – Verger for St Kentigern Church in Aspatria  

 

 Responses and letters of support have been received from the following key 
stakeholders:- 
 
S Moffat, Past Deputy Mayor Allerdale Borough Council 
D Forsyth, Verger of the St Kentigern Church in Aspatria 
L Radcliffe, Patient and Current Mayor of Maryport 
D Trotter, Retired Dental Practice Advisor for Cumbria 
 

 Responses were received from 387 patients and the result were as follows: 
-  240 stated that they were okay with the move (62%) 
-  147 stated they were not okay with the move (38%) 

 

Page 16



Page 3 of 6 
 

 The comments from patients who responded to say they were not okay with the move 
included: 
-   nice to have a dentist in the town 
-   More than satisfactory service here at Aspatria 
-   bus not always convenient times but if the majority are in favour then okay 
-   prefer to stay in Aspatria 
-   difficult to travel by bus with my children 

 

Other key points to note 

 There are no performance concerns in relation to either of these two practices. 
 

 An analysis of patients flows into the Aspatria practice over a 24 month period from 
October 2013 to September 2015 highlights the following: 
 
-   1625 patients attended the practice. 
-   97.4% of patients attending the practice were resident in Allerdale Local Authority  
    where the contract is located, with 0.9% (14 patients) resident in Copeland. 
-   48% of patients attending the practice reside in the Aspatria ward and 14% in the  
    neighbouring ward of Solway (see Appendix 1) 
-   56% of patients reside within 3 km of the practice location, with 69% living within a  
    6km radius (see Appendix 2). 
-   mapping of patient postcodes and the distance range from a patient’s home postcode  
    to the practice postcode emphasises the range of distances patient travel to the   
    contract with some patient travelling in excess of 20 miles. 
 

 Both Aspatria patients and those attending the practice in Maryport would benefit from 
significantly increased clinical capacity (from a combined total of 39 hours per week to 
69 hours per week), as well as extended opening hours and improved premises and 
equipment. 
 

 The practice consultation process has concluded that patients and key stakeholders are 
generally supportive of the change. 
   

 The provider has advised that if the proposal is not approved, they may need to revise 
their business plan with a view to the eventual closure of the Aspatria Practice.  The 
resultant effect would be that capacity in Allerdale would be reduced as due to the size 
of the contract and the recruitment difficulties experienced by other practices within the 
West of Cumbria, it is unlikely that NHS England would be successful in re-procuring a 
replacement contract in this area. 
 

 Taking into consideration the above, NHS England Cumbria and the North East are 
supportive of the merger and relocation proposal. 

 
 

 
  
  

Page 17



Page 4 of 6 
 

Appendix 1 
Aspatria Practice – Patients Residency by Ward 

 
 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 18



Page 5 of 6 
 

Appendix 2 
 

Patients Distance from Aspatria Practice 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 19



Page 6 of 6 
 

Appendix 3 
 

Aspatria Practice – Patient Postcodes & Distances Travelled 
 

 

Page 20



Appendix C

Steele & McBride Dental Practice

9 Curzon Street

Maryport

CA15 6LL

Cumbria

Engagement Report

Ian Steele

David McBride

June 2015

Page 21



Background

We opened the Aspatria practice in 1995 with the aim of creating a full-time practice with a full time 
associate. This worked well for a while but there has always been a problem of sourcing and retaining 
associates in west Cumbria. When an associate left and we could not immediately provide a replacement the 
partners had to step in and keep the practice going on a part time basis to provide an adequate service to 
our patients. This created massive disruption to the main Maryport practice impacting on the patients, 
preferring the continuity of “their own dentist”. After a period of repeated disruptions the partners decided 
to open permanently on a part time basis, approximately 15 hours per week, run by themselves. The 
practice was run on this part time basis when we entered the current dental contract.

Being open part time necessitates considerable travel time between practices for the dentists and staff. Due 
to this we have to greatly extend lunch breaks to allow for travel time and there is the constant threat of 
over running a morning session and being late for the afternoon session between the two practices. Uniting 
the two practices under one roof would therefore free up an estimated 6-8 hours of clinical time, between 
the partners, per week.

There are 1,500 patients on the Aspatria list, however a number of these are non-attenders (emergency 
only), and we have a significant number of DNA/last minute cancellations. Many of our patients live west of 
Aspatria i.e. they live nearer to Maryport than Aspatria. 

Historically we have always achieved our Maryport UDA targets with ease but have always struggled to do 
the same at Aspatria, presumably due to the part time hours and levels of non-attendance. Several years ago 
the PCT allowed us to transfer some of our UDA’s from Aspatria to Maryport and this assisted in alleviating 
the situation. 

We also have to provide continuity of care to our Aspatria patients despite the part time opening hours. 
Therefore we already see many Aspatria patients at Maryport for emergencies and indeed routine treatment 
at the Maryport practice due to the longer opening hours. Therefore the proposed merger of the two 
practices would scale up a process which is currently happening with the added benefit of significantly 
increased clinical availability due to being open, at one site, on a full time basis.

Some of the main current issues at the Aspatria practice and potential future saleability problems are as 
follows:

The partners have used Practice Financial Management, Specialist Dental Advisors (PFM) for many years. We 
have been informed on an informal basis that Aspatria would prove very difficult or impossible to sell. As 
both partners are at least thinking about retirement (62 and 54 respectively) this could result in a very 
difficult problem in Aspatria when the time comes. The partners wish to retire simultaneously to avoid the 
difficulties and financial burden of “one buying the other out”. If we could not merge the two practices now 
then we would not provide continuity of care in the future. 

 No room for expansion as there is only one surgery which does not allow for one of the dentists running 
late, potential for a second dentist or therapist

 Decontamination facilities are currently satisfactory but no room for future expansion/improvement
 No facility for expansion of storage space for record cards, CQC files, etc.
 As previously stated, second set of overhead expenses (greatly magnified in recent years e.g. CQC 

expenses for both practices)
 Quite a high rate of failed appointments and late cancellations. These appointments cannot be filled at last 

minute at Aspatria. In a merged practice in Maryport there is a much higher chance of filling these gaps as 

Page 22



there is a large list of people waiting for last minute appointments. Therefore much less waste of clinical 
time.

 There will be less stress on the dentists with regards to having to travel between practices, running late 
and to meet a new set of problems on a daily basis at the next session. This is of course a good outcome 
for the practice and patient relationships.

 Staff can be consolidated in the Maryport practice allowing for greater sickness and holiday cover. Again 
freeing up clinical time as there will be not last minute surgery cancellations due to staff shortages.

 Consolidating the staff will also assist in a stronger team with greater opportunities for internal staff 
training in one practice.

Dentists, among other professionals, are constantly advised to prepare for retirement “five years out” and 
this consolidation of the two practices needs to be viewed in this context as well. As mentioned the 
retention of associates proved difficult, let alone the willingness of associates to “buy out” principles to allow 
for retirement and this is now becoming a thing of the past.

Proposal

We propose to relocate the services at Steele & McBride, 5 King Street, Aspatria, Wigton, Cumbria CA7 3ES 
to Steele & McBride, 9 Curzon Street, Maryport, Cumbria CA15 6LL. The two practices will then run alongside 
each other from joint premises on a full-time basis.

The main reason for this move is the expense of keeping two practices, whilst ensuring we keep to the 
rigorous standards of NHS dentistry, which is becoming untenable but full details of the reasons are given 
above. In essence one business with two sets of overheads.

We strongly believe that this relocation would provide a better service to patients and that we will continue 
to offer excellent NHS services to all our patients.

Maryport Practice offers more extensive dental services including a therapist. It has 3 surgeries whereas 
there is only one surgery at Aspatria which means we are able to provide a better quality care for the 
patients of the Aspatria Practice. 

Relocation carries many benefits for patients as follows:

o 3 surgeries with 2 Dentists and access to a therapist/hygienist;
o Maryport offers extended opening hours and availability for patients;
o Improved facilities and equipment;
o More immediate treatment for patients with a dental emergency;

The Maryport practice has achieved the following against its UDA target over the past four financial years.

 11/12 - 100%
 12/13 – 98%
 13/14 – 95%
 14/15 - 102%

The Maryport practice is approximately 6 miles from Aspatria and is on the main bus route with regular 
trains running between the two towns.  If travelling was found to prove arduous, i.e. trying to get children to 
see us after school we would consider altering our hours to suit the demand.

Page 23



We will continue to recognise and conform to the principles of the Equality Act by creating an environment 
where all our patients and staff are treated with dignity and respect in line with our Policies. Our policies set 
down our approach to equality, discrimination, diversity and human rights as it applies to all our patients 
and staff and the potential move of our Aspatria patients will not be impacted at all.

 We recognise all our patients as individuals with diverse needs 
 We will continue to aim to accommodate the needs of our patients relating to any disability 

wherever possible 
 We will continue to respect the rights and dignity of all our patients 

Patient Information and involvement

The following information and involvement steps were undertaken:

o An information poster was displayed in the waiting room and comments were invited from 
attending patients using the questionnaire and comments box. (See Appendix 1 for poster and 
Appendix 2 for questionnaire)

o The poster was displayed from week commencing 11 May 2015, with the view of receiving 400 
patient responses with a deadline of 19 June 2015.

o The news of the potential merger spread quickly in a small town such as Aspatria and non-attending 
patients came into the practice to complete questionnaires to give their views

o Letters were sent and hand delivered to key people in the town such as the Verger (Mrs Dorothy 
Forsyth) of the St Kentigern church who is well known and respected in the town and has lived in 
Aspatria for 49 years, Doug Trotter who is the recently retired Dental Practice Adviser for Cumbria 
with over 10 years in post, Stuart Moffat, past Deputy Mayor Allerdale Borough Council, Linda 
Radcliffe, current Mayor of Maryport and David Wilson, Allerdale Councillor for Aspatria. 

o Two articles were placed in the local press, Cumberland News and Times & Star, after an interview 
with David McBride and the articles concluded with commending us for at least consulting with our 
patients prior to any decision being made.

Summary of Responses

We received responses from 387 patients and the results are as follows:

240 stated that they are okay with the move (62%)

147 Stated that they were not okay with the move (38%)

Comments from patients okay with the move:

 We live in Maryport anyway so very handy
 As we live closer to Maryport than to Aspatria, the relocation would be much better for me and my family
 I would be disappointed by the proposed move but fully understand the financial implications
 Good idea, see no problems
 Makes no difference to us
 It is very convenient to be in Aspatria but Maryport offers a wide range of services and better hours
 Fully understand the reasons
 Great

Comments from patients not okay with the move:

 Nice to have a dentist in the town

Page 24



 More than satisfactory service here in Aspatria
 Bus not always convenient times but if the majority are in favour then okay
 Prefer to stay in Aspatria
 Like it very much in Aspatria
 Difficult to travel by bus with my children

Key Stakeholders

Letters (Appendix 3) were sent out and hand delivered to key stakeholders and we received the following 
responses.

1. Supporting letter received from Doug Trotter (Retired Dental Practice Adviser for Cumbria for more 
than 10 years)

2. Support letter from Mrs D Forsyth (Verger for St Kentigern Church in Aspatria and local resident for 
49 years)

3. Supporting letter from Stuart Moffat Esq. (Past Deputy Mayor Allerdale Borough Council)
4. Letter from Linda Radcliffe (Mayor of Maryport)

Summary

This report provides details of the proposal to relocate the services at Steele & McBride, 5 King Street, 
Aspatria, Wigton, Cumbria CA7 3ES to Steele & McBride, 9 Curzon Street, Maryport, Cumbria CA15 6LL and 
run the two practices alongside each other from joint premises on a full-time basis.

Patient and stakeholder views were sought to assist us in making an informed analysis for the way forward. 
The details of these can be found in the appendices. The results show that the majority of patients and 
stakeholders are okay with the potential merger.

The main reason as stated is the expense of keeping two practices, whilst ensuring we keep to the rigorous 
standards of NHS dentistry, with other reasons stated in full in the Background and Proposal sections. 

Conclusion

We hope NHS England will consider and approve this proposed merger.

Page 25



Appendix 3

DEAR PATIENT

WE ARE PROPOSING TO RELOCATE THE DENTAL PRACTICE AND ITS DENTAL 
SERVICES TO THE SAME PREMISES AS THE MARYPORT DENTAL PRACTICE. THE TWO 
PRACTICES WILL THEN RUN ALONGSIDE EACH OTHER FROM JOINT PREMISES AND 
WE SEE THIS AS A VERY POSITIVE MOVE. 

THE MAIN REASON FOR THIS MOVE IS THE EXPENSE OF KEEPING TWO PRACTICES, 
WHILST ENSURING WE KEEP TO THE RIGOUROUS STANDARDS OF NHS DENTISTRY. 
THIS WILL ALLOW US TO RETAIN FINANCIAL VIABILITY.

WE BELIEVE STRONGLY THAT THIS RELOCATION WOULD PROVIDE A BETTER 
SERVICE TO PATIENTS AND THAT WE WILL CONTINUE TO OFFER EXCELLENT NHS 
SERVICES TO PATIENTS.

SOME OF THE KEY BENEFITS WOULD BE AS FOLLOWS:

o LONGER OPENING HOURS AND AVAILABILITY
o ACCESS TO A THERAPIST (HYGIENIST)
o THE MARYPORT PRACTICE OPERATES 3 SURGERIES AND THE ABOVE 

THERAPIST

OUR PLEDGE TO YOU IS THAT YOU WILL BE KEPT ON AS AN NHS PATIENT AND THAT 
APPOINTMENTS ALREADY BOOKED WILL STAND.

WE HAVE ENGAGED WITH NHS ENGLAND TO INFORM THEM OF THE PROPOSED 
SUSTAINABLE SOLUTION.

WE WOULD APPRECIATE IT IF YOU WOULD COMPLETE A COMMENTS CARD AND 
PLACE IT IN THE COMMENTS BOX.

WITH THANKS

STEELE & MCBRIDE

Page 26



Appendix 4

STEELE & MCBRIDE DENTAL PRACTICE

PROPOSED RELOCATION YOUR VIEW

What do you think about the proposal to relocate to Maryport?

Would be ok with move  Not ok with the move 

Comments 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

STEELE & MCBRIDE DENTAL PRACTICE

PROPOSED RELOCATION YOUR VIEW

What do you think about the proposal to relocate to Maryport?

Would be ok with move  Not ok with the move 

Comments 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

STEELE & MCBRIDE DENTAL PRACTICE

PROPOSED RELOCATION YOUR VIEW

What do you think about the proposal to relocate to Maryport?

Would be ok with move  Not ok with the move 

Comments 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

STEELE & MCBRIDE DENTAL PRACTICE

PROPOSED RELOCATION YOUR VIEW

What do you think about the proposal to relocate to Maryport?

Would be ok with move  Not ok with the move 

Comments 

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………

Page 27



Appendix 5

18 May 2015

Dear Colleague,

Re: Proposed relocation of Aspatria Dental Practice

This letter is to inform you of the proposed relocation of the Aspatria Dental Practice, and to seek 
your views as part of engagement activity. 

We are proposing to relocate the Dental Practice and its dental services to the same premises as 
the Maryport Dental Practice. The two practices will then run alongside each other from joint 
premises.

The main reason for this move is the expense of keeping two practices, whilst ensuring we keep to 
the rigorous standards of NHS dentistry.

We believe strongly that this relocation would provide a better service to patients and that we will 
continue to offer excellent NHS services to patients.

Some of the key benefits would be as follows:

o longer opening hours and availability
o access to a therapist (hygienist)
o the Maryport practice operates 3 surgeries and the above therapist

Our pledge to our patients is that they will be kept on as NHS patients and that appointments 
already booked will stand.

Engagement activity is being undertaken by the Practice around this proposal, including contacting 
patients for comments, and your feedback would also be welcomed as part of this process. 
Comments can be submitted by contacting the Practice as follows:

Post: Steele & McBride, 9 Curzon Street, Maryport CA15 6LL

Email: steelemcbride@tiscali.co.uk

Alternatively, comments can be submitted using the Practice’s Comments Card (enclosed), either 
by returning this to the Comments Box in the Practice’s waiting area or by post to the above 
address. 

Please let us know your views by 19 June 2015. 

Yours sincerely,

Ian Steele & David McBride

Page 28



Appendix 6

Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



2 East Crescent
ASPATRIA

Wigton
Cumbria
CA7 3EF

telephone/v-mail: 01697 321156
mobile/v-mail: 07968 379110
e-mail: bill.finlay@talktalk.net
date: 28th October 2015

Leanne Fawcett
Primary Care Business Manager (Cumbria Dental)
NHS England
Cumbria and the North East
leanne.fawcett1@nhs.net

Lynn Harker
Scrutiny Co-ordinator
lynn.harker@cumbria.gov.uk

Dear Leanne and Lynn

STEELE & MCBRIDE DENTAL PRACTICE
PROPOSED RELOCATION OF ASPATRIA PRACTICE TO MARYPORT

I am writing to express my concerns regarding the above proposal.

While completely understanding the partners' motivations and rationale as outlined in their 
Report of June 2015 (circulated yesterday by Allerdale Council's Scrutiny Co-ordinator 
Jonothon Laycock to all stakeholder-councillors in the effected area), I do find the 
approach they have taken to support their preferred outcome via 'consultation' to be less 
than satisfactory.

Quoting from their report and then adding my comments

p4 Patient Information and involvement

The following information and involvement steps were undertaken:
• An information poster was displayed in the waiting room and comments were 

invited from attending patients using the questionnaire and comments box. 
(See Appendix 1 for poster and Appendix 2 for questionnaire)

• The poster was displayed from week commencing 11 May 2015, with the view 
of receiving 400 patient responses with a deadline of 19 June 2015.

• The news of the potential merger spread quickly in a small town such as 
Aspatria and non-attending patients came into the practice to complete 
questionnaires to give their views

• Letters were sent and hand delivered to key people in the town such as the 
Verger (Mrs Dorothy Forsyth) of the St Kentigern church who is well known 
and respected in the town and has lived in Aspatria for 49 years, Doug Trotter 

1

Page 35

mailto:leanne.fawcett1@nhs.net
mailto:lynn.harker@cumbria.gov.uk


who is the recently retired Dental Practice Adviser for Cumbria with over 10 
years in post, Stuart Moffat, past Deputy Mayor Allerdale Borough Council, 
Linda Radcliffe, current Mayor of Maryport and David Wilson, Allerdale 
Councillor for Aspatria.

• Two articles were placed in the local press, Cumberland News and Times & 
Star, after an interview with David McBride and the articles concluded with 
commending us for at least consulting with our patients prior to any decision 
being made.

Summary of Responses

We received responses from 387 patients and the results are as follows:
240 stated that they are okay with the move (62%)
147 Stated that they were not okay with the move (38%)

Other than patients receiving an active course of treatment, I would expect the vast 
majority of patients to attend the surgery once every six months for routine check-ups. 

Yet pro-active patient consultation was restricted to a period of only five weeks, equivalent
to only 20% of a six-month timescale over which the vast majority of patients would be 
expected to make a routine appointment and thus see the poster.

The report notes that word of mouth boosted the number of responses, but does not 
record what proportion of responses overall was boosted in this manner.

Since word of mouth is by definition a phenomenon that requires the person with 
information to take it upon themselves to spread what they know and choose who to 
spread it to, it would be unsafe to assume these boosted responses would correspond to a
randomised survey of all patients, and thus we cannot know how representative of all 
patients they were.

Furthermore, the reliance on word of mouth to encourage patients to make a journey to a 
part-time surgery in Aspatria town must raise concerns that the population in outlying 
areas would probably be under-represented within the total trawl of responses thus 
received.

Given these concerns, there can be little or no confidence attributed to the spread of 
opinion in support of the proposal (62%) versus those opposed (38%)

p5 Key Stakeholders

Letters (Appendix 3) were sent out and hand delivered to key stakeholders and we 
received the following responses.
1. Supporting letter received from Doug Trotter (Retired Dental Practice Adviser for 
Cumbria for more than 10 years)
2. Support letter from Mrs D Forsyth (Verger for St Kentigern Church in Aspatria and 
local resident for 49 years)
3. Supporting letter from Stuart Moffat Esq. (Past Deputy Mayor Allerdale Borough 
Council)
4. Letter from Linda Radcliffe (Mayor of Maryport)

2

Page 36



What weight these four letters are supposed to give to the consultation exercise is 
bemusing especially as only one is from a resident within the catchment area of the dental 
practice proposed for closure.

Absent from the consultation process is any reference to any attempt to engage with other 
key stakeholders such as:
• town and parish councils in the area
• representatives of the area elected to Allerdale Borough Council
• representatives of the area elected to Cumbria County Council
• care providers operating in the area
• educational establishments operating in the area

I am one of two Ward Councillors who represent Aspatria on Allerdale Council and was 
not consulted. My colleague David Wilson was approached, I assume since as recorded 
elsewhere in the report he is a patient at the practice in question.

At the time that the consultation exercise was undertaken, I was also Mayor of Aspatria 
and chair of the Aspatria Rural Partnership, which is a voluntary collaborative body 
consisting of the rural parishes roughly within a four-mile radius of Aspatria town, as well 
as the Town Council itself.

To my knowledge none of these bodies were regarded and approached as key 
Stakeholders and/or having a representative function on behalf of communities likely to be
effected.

In summary I would therefore urge you to give no weight to the outputs from the 
consultation exercise conducted in May and June 2015, and instead seek an independent 
consultation exercise that either actively includes all patients registered with the Aspatria 
practice, or if not than a large sample survey stratified to give balance to the views of 
patients living within the town and those living beyond in more rural areas

I believe it is essential that these two cohorts are canvassed proportionately for their 
opinions as I would expect that patients living in rural areas are likely to be more 
concerned at the impacts of closure than those living in the town, and particularly those 
with restricted access to cars and/or public transport.

I would like to continue to be engaged in the process of scrutinising this proposal.

Yours

Allerdale Councillor Bill Finlay
Aspatria Ward

3

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Terms of Reference
	6 Dental Practice, Aspatria
	Appendix A Substantial Variation Protocol Agreed October 2015
	Appendix B Report from NHS England
	Appendix C Engagement Report
	Appendix D Correspondence from Local Councillor


